# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-28-2016

# Ada County Prosecuting Attorney v. Demint Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44026

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case.

In this appeal, the Ada County Prosecuting Attorney appeals the District Court's decision in ruling that Defendant Property Nine Thousand Four Hundred Fifteen and 64/100 Dollars (\$9,415.64) United States Currency is not subject to forfeiture under the Idaho Controlled Substances Act.

#### B. Course of Proceedings.

This case arises from Claimant William Scott DeMint's August 20, 2014 arrest, which resulted in a guilty plea and conviction for trafficking methamphetamine and which gave rise to the instant civil forfeiture. Plaintiff filed this action on September 8, 2014 and Mr. DeMint answered on November 14, 2014. On July 6, 2015, the Plaintiff filed a Motion for Summary Judgment with supporting memorandum and affidavits. On December 3, 2015, the district court heard Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, and on December 8, 2015, the court issued a ruling denying summary judgment as to Defendant Property Nine Thousand Four Hundred Fifteen and 64/100 Dollars (\$9,415.64) United States Currency and granting summary judgment as to all remaining Defendant Property. A court trial was held before Judge Duff McKee on

Summary judgment was granted as to the following items of Defendant Property: 1998 Ford F150, VIN 1FTRX18L9WKB27754; Twelve Thousand Seven Hundred Ninety-Four and 00/100 Dollars (\$12,794.00) United States Currency; Approximately Four Hundred Forty-One and Forty-Seven Hundredths (441.47) Grams Methamphetamine; Approximately Twelve and Seventy-Nine Hundredths (12.79) Grams Marijuana; Ten (10) 16-MG Pills Hydromorphone; One (1) Taurus Millennium 9-MM Handgun, Model PT111, Serial No. TSC27053, with One

January 19, 2016. At trial, following Plaintiff's submission of evidence, Judge McKee granted Mr. DeMint's motion for directed verdict. Plaintiff now appeals that decision.

#### C. Statement of Facts.

On August 20, 2014, Deputy Lowry with the Ada County Sheriff's Office ("ACSO") stopped a vehicle driven by Claimant William Scott DeMint<sup>2</sup> for speeding and failure to signal a lane change for five seconds. Tr. p. 24, LL. 21-25, p. 25, LL. 1-13 at the time of the stop, Mr. DeMint had been travelling in a drug corridor, a route commonly used by traffickers to transport controlled substances. Tr. p. 48, LL. 7-13, p. 49, LL. 3-8. Following a K-9 alert on the vehicle, officers located, among other items, Defendant Property Twelve Thousand Seven Hundred Ninety-Four Dollars (\$12,794.00) United States Currency, a handgun, 441.47 grams of methamphetamine, 12.79 grams of marijuana, ten 16-milligram pills of hydromorphone, five digital scales, ten glass bongs, and thirty-one glass pipes. Tr. p. 25, LL. 14-19, p. 26, LL. 1-8, Ex. 1, Cr. p. 104-08. Mr. DeMint was arrested and transported to the Ada County Jail on a charge for trafficking methamphetamine. Tr. p. 25, LL. 18-25, p. 26, LL. 1-8, p. 30, LL. 13-15, Ex. 1. Later that day, Detectives James Roberson and Javier Bustos with the ACSO interviewed Mr. DeMint

<sup>(1)</sup> Magazine of Ten (10) Rounds 9-MM Ammunition; Two (2) Folding Knives; One (1) Vipertek Taser; One (1) Digital Scale With Residue and Black Case; Four (4) Digital Scales in Boxes; One (1) Green Metal Container; One (1) Orange Mesh Bag; One (1) Red Mesh Bag; One (1) Black Mesh Bag; One (1) Blue Chase Bank Bag; Various Plastic Ziploc Bags; Two (P2) Glass Pipes With Burnt Residue; One (1) Small Metal Smoking Pipe With Burnt Residue; Ten (10) Glass Bongs; and Thirty-One (31) Glass Pipes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> When Mr. DeMint was stopped by Deputy Lowry, he was accompanied by passenger Joshua Allen Thomas. The District Court entered an Order Allowing Default and a Default Judgment as to Mr. Thomas in this matter on January 16, 2015 as to all Defendant Property.

at the Ada County Jail. Tr. p. 30, LL. 16-24. During that interview, Mr. DeMint informed the detectives that he was unemployed and looking for work. Tr. p. 34, LL. 13-25, p. 35, LL. 1-5.

Mr. DeMint's phone calls were monitored by Detective Roberson during his time at the Ada County Jail. Tr. p. 37, LL. 8-13. A transcript of several of Mr. DeMint's jail phone calls were admitted into evidence at trial. On August 20, 2014, Mr. DeMint called a woman and requested that she transfer \$10,000 out of his bank account immediately. Ex. 3, p. 40, LL. 16-25, p. 43, LL. 17-18. He provided her his Chase bank account information in order to extract the money, and expressed fear that the money was going to be taken. Ex. 3, p. 41, LL. 1-25, p. 42, LL. 1-4, p. 43, LL. 14-21.

Mr. DeMint then called a man and gave instructions on what to do with his bank account. Ex. 3, p. 16, LL. 6-11. He said that half of the money should be put on his "books" and the other half given to "Linda." *Id.* Mr. DeMint explained that he needed the money removed from his account and told the man, "Just get it out of the bank for now [. . .] We'll worry about where it goes. [. . .] [T]ransfer them into someone else's bank account. . . or they're going to confiscate it[.]" Ex. 3, p. 18, LL. 1-8.

Upon reviewing the above phone calls, Detective Roberson wrote a seizure affidavit in order to seize the money from Mr. DeMint's bank account. Tr. p. 40, LL. 11-25, p. 41, LL. 1-11. A seizure warrant was issued and served upon Chase Bank. Tr. p. 41, LL. 9-22. On or about

August 27, 2014, Chase Bank issued a cashier's check to ACSO in the amount of \$9,415.64, the balance of Mr. DeMint's bank account at that time.<sup>3</sup> Ex. 3, p. 44, LL. 23-25, p. 45, LL. 1-12.

Mr. DeMint's bank records from the relevant dates were admitted into evidence at trial. Mr. DeMint's bank statement for the month of June shows out-of-state purchases in Utah and Colorado on July 7, 2014. Ex. 4, p. 80-81. Mr. DeMint's bank statement beginning July 8, 2014 shows a beginning balance of -\$161.04. Ex. 4, p. 83. On July 16, the statement shows a deposit in the amount of \$26,268.19. *Id.* After that large deposit, a number of cash withdrawals occurred, including a withdrawal of \$4,000 on July 17, a withdrawal of \$5,000.00 on July 21, and a withdrawal of \$4,500.00 on July 30. Ex. 4, pp. 83-84. Additionally, the July statement shows out-of-state purchases in Winnemucca, Nevada and Yuba City, California from July 21 through July 22, 2014 and from July 30 to August 1, 2014. Ex. 4, pp. 84-85. Many of these expenses were incurred for gas and hotels. *Id.* 

Mr. DeMint's beginning balance for the month of August, 2014 was \$3,709.59. Ex. 4, p. 94. A number of large cash deposits occurred, including a deposit of \$4,650.00 on August 13 and two deposits equaling \$6,450.00 on August 18. Ex. 4, p. 95. Both deposits occurred after Mr. DeMint traveled to Yuba City, California and Winnemucca, Nevada – his bank records show purchases in these places August 7 through August 11, 2014 and August 13 through August 14, 2014. Ex. 4, pp. 94-95. Again, many of Mr. Demint's out-of-state purchases were incurred for gas and hotels. Ex. 4, pp. 94-95. Additionally, the August statement shows that Mr. DeMint

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The cashier's check comprises the Defendant Property Nine Thousand Four Hundred Fifteen and 64/100 Dollars (\$9,415.64) United States Currency at issue in this appeal.

purchased gas in Ogden, Utah on August 20, 2014, the same date he was arrested in Boise. Ex. 4, p. 95.

Mr. DeMint ultimately pled guilty to trafficking methamphetamine and was sentenced on May 27, 2015. Plaintiff initiated the instant lawsuit on September 8, 2014. Mr. DeMint is the only claimant remaining in this matter,<sup>4</sup> and Defendant Property Nine Thousand Four Hundred Fifteen and 64/100 Dollars (\$9,415.64) United States Currency from Mr. DeMint's bank account is the only Defendant Property still at issue.<sup>5</sup> Because the district court granted Mr. DeMint's motion for directed verdict, the record includes only Plaintiff's case-in-chief.

II.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

(1) Whether the District Court erred in entering a directed verdict in Mr. DeMint's favor, and (2) Whether the District Court erred in ruling that Defendant Property Nine Thousand Four Hundred Fifteen and 64/100 Dollars (\$9,415.64) United States Currency is not subject to forfeiture per Idaho Code Section 37-2744 and the Idaho Uniform Controlled Substances Act, Idaho Code §§ 37-2701, et seq.

III.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

As aforementioned, Mr. DeMint prevailed upon a motion for directed verdict. In reviewing the entry of a directed verdict, the appellate court must apply the same standard that

<sup>4</sup> The only other claimant, Joshua Allen Thomas, was defaulted on January 16, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The District Court awarded Plaintiff summary judgment and forfeiture of all other items of Defendant Property in an order dated December 8, 2015.

governs the trial court which entered the directed verdict. *Quick v. Crane*, 111 Idaho 759, 764, 727 P.2d 1187, 1192 (1986). "Whether a verdict should be directed is purely a question of law and on those questions, the parties are entitled to full review by the appellate court without special deference to the views of the trial court." *Id.* The Supreme Court of Idaho has therefore ruled that in determining whether a motion for directed verdict should have been granted, the appellate court "must determine whether, admitting the truth of the adverse evidence and drawing every legitimate inference most favorably to the opposing party, there exists substantial evidence to justify submitting the case to the jury." *Myers v. Workmen's Auto Ins. Co.*, 140 Idaho 495, 508-09, 95 P.3d 977, 990-91 (2004) (citation omitted). The requirement of substantial evidence "does not require the evidence to be uncontradicted. It requires only that the evidence be of sufficient quantity and probative value that reasonable minds could conclude that a verdict in favor of the party against whom the motion is made is proper." *Id.* at 509, 991 (citation omitted).

However, because the case at hand involved a court trial rather than a trial by jury, the proper motion before the District Court was one for involuntary dismissal under Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 41(b) and not a motion for directed verdict. *See Durrant v. Quality Fist Mktg.*, 127 Idaho 558, 559, 903 P.2d 147, 148 (Idaho Ct. App. 1995), *Spirit Ridge Mineral Springs, LLC v. Franklin County*, 157 Idaho 424, 426, 337 P.3d 583, 585 (2014). I.R.C.P. 41(b) provides, in pertinent part:

After the plaintiff, in an action tried by the court without a jury, has completed the presentation of the plaintiff's evidence, the defendant, without waiving the right to offer evidence in the event the motion is not granted, may move for a dismissal

on the ground that upon the facts and the law the plaintiff has shown no right to relief. The court as trier of the facts may then determine them and render judgment against the plaintiff or may decline to render any judgment until the close of all the evidence.

In assessing an involuntary dismissal, an appellate court "review[s] freely any statements of law and the court's conclusion that the facts as found did not entitle [plaintiff] to relief." *Staggie v. Idaho Falls Consol. Hosps.*, 110 Idaho 349, 351, 715 P.2d 1019, 1021 (Idaho Ct. App. 1986).

#### IV.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The district court misapplied the preponderance standard in this case; a proper application of the standard shows that the \$9,415.64 is subject to forfeiture under the Idaho Controlled Substances Act.

#### A. The District Court Failed to Apply the Correct Standard.

In making its determination in this matter, the district court applied the incorrect standard to Plaintiff's case. Idaho Code Section 37-2744 subjects to forfeiture all property "which has been used or intended for use in connection with the illegal manufacture, distribution, dispensing or possession" of controlled substances. The Section further provides that forfeiture proceedings are in rem civil actions and that the standard of proof is preponderance of the evidence. I.C. § 37-2744. To meet a preponderance burden, the evidence must show that something is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> When an appellate court reviews a district court's findings of fact, it may overturn such findings of fact only if they are "clearly erroneous." *Idaho Power Co. v. Cogeneration, Inc.*, 134 Idaho 738, 743, 9 P.3d 1204, 1209 (2000). However, here, the district court made no findings of fact; thus, Plaintiff herein challenges the district court's application of law.

"more probably true than not." *Oxley v. Med. Rock Specialties, Inc.*, 139 Idaho 476, 481, 80 P.3d 1077, 1082 (2003). Thus, in a forfeiture case, a plaintiff must show that the property involved was, more likely than not, used or intended for use in connection with illegal drug activity.

In this matter, the district court stated that it applied a preponderance of the evidence standard. Tr. p. 100, LL. 18-25, p. 101, LL. 1-3. However, a review of the court's oral ruling exposes a flawed application of the standard. The court began its ruling by stating that an attempt to forfeit money from a bank account "build[s] a mountain. . . that is almost insurmountable." Tr. p. 95, LL. 24-25, p. 96, LL. 1-3. This statement alone conflicts with the preponderance standard; it more accurately describes "beyond a reasonable doubt," a much higher burden. The Supreme Court of Idaho has likened "beyond a reasonable doubt" to "the summit of a high mountain." *State v. Arregui*, 44 Idaho 43, 63 (1927). The district court's extension of such a definition to the preponderance standard is erroneous. Following the above, the court states two propositions which are troubling when compared with the preponderance standard.

First, the district court held that the Plaintiff was required to trace the funds in the bank account and stated, "[Y]ou have to be very precise; a dollar in, you get a dollar out." Tr. p. 97, LL. 19-22. Second, and even more troublesome, the district court ruled that in order to meet its burden, the Plaintiff was required to disprove all Mr. DeMint's potential legitimate sources of income, despite the absence of any such sources on the record. Specifically, the court stated, "You have to rule out all. . . other possibilities of where the money might have gone." Tr. p. 100, LL. 1-3. These two propositions display that the court erred in applying a burden much higher than preponderance.

To begin with, no Idaho statutory or decisional law requires a plaintiff to trace money in order to forfeit funds in a bank account—the law merely requires that a plaintiff show that the money was *more likely than not* used in connection with illegal drug activity. Idaho courts have never addressed the subject and have therefore never required plaintiffs to trace money in a bank account.

Where the Idaho Supreme Court has not specifically ruled on a matter involved in a civil forfeiture, the Court has stated: "the Idaho legislature included a 'uniformity of interpretation' provision, which directs that the Idaho act shall be applied and construed to make uniform the law with respect to the subject of the act among those states that enact it." *State v. Barraza-Martinez*, 139 Idaho 624, 626, 84 P.3d 560, 562 (2003). Thus, other states' interpretations of forfeiture statutes similar to Idaho's may be directive here.

Though Idaho law has not addressed tracing money, various other courts which have ruled that the plaintiff does not have to link monies from a bank account to any one particular transaction. *See United States v. \$1,101.00 in United States Currency*, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 94349, at \*8 (W.D. Wash. 2015) ("The government may discharge its burden with circumstantial evidence, and it is not required to trace assets to particular transactions." (citations omitted)), *Commonwealth v. 32,950.00 United States Currency*, 160 Pa. Commw. 58 (1993) (ruling that requiring the government to "produce evidence directly linking the property to the illegal activity" was "too strict and would impose an onerous burden" on the government) (citation omitted), *United States v. \$49,790 in United States Currency*, 763 F.Supp.2d 1160 (N.D. Cal. 2010) ("The determination whether the government has met its burden of proof is based on the

aggregate of the facts, including circumstantial evidence."), United States v. 380 Cody Rd. S., 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 17868 (S.D. Ala. 2015) (ruling that the government "is not required to offer direct evidence of a connection between the defendant currency and a specific drug transaction."). Other courts have ruled that while tracing is required, it involves a totality of the circumstances approach, rather than the dollar in, dollar out approach as suggested by the district court in this case. See United States v. 174,206.00 in United States Currency, 320 F.3d 658 (6th Cir. 2003) (ruling that forfeiture was proper where claimants' legitimate income did not support the large amount of money found in claimants' safe deposit boxes), United States v. Funds in the Amount of Thirty Thousand Six Hundred Seventy Dollars (\$30,670.00), 403 F.3d 448 (7th Cir. 2005). The 7th Circuit Court of Appeals also noted that "[i]n evaluating the evidence of proceeds traceable to drug transactions, we...eschew[] clinical detachment and endorse[] a common sense view to the realities of normal life applied to the totality of the circumstances." *Id.* at 469 (citation omitted). In one case, the 11th Circuit Court of Appeals noted that a lack of documents directly tracing money "is not how legitimate business transactions are handled. It is, however, the way drug rings operate." United States v. Carrell, 252 F.3d 1193, 1201 (11th Cir. 2001).

Here, the lack of account tracing is, of its own accord, indicative of its use in illegal drug transactions. Despite being unemployed, during the two months preceding his arrest, Mr. DeMint deposited over \$37,000.00 into his bank account. Mr. DeMint had no legitimate source of income and there was no evidence before the district court suggesting that the money came from a legitimate source. The only evidence on the record shows that Mr. DeMint is a convicted methamphetamine trafficker who was, despite his unemployment, depositing large sums of

money following recurring trips to Yuba City, California and Winnemucca, Nevada via a drug corridor, a route commonly used by drug traffickers. The record also shows that at the time of his arrest, Mr. DeMint was in possession of a large amount of methamphetamine, marijuana, cash, five digital scales, a gun, ten glass bongs, and thirty-one glass pipes. All of this evidence suggests that Mr. DeMint was involved in a drug operation. Thus, an inability to directly trace the funds makes sense; as the 11th Circuit Court of Appeals noted, it is "the way drug rings operate." *Id.* On this error alone, the case is subject to remand.

The district court also applied the incorrect standard when it required Plaintiff to disprove every potential legitimate source of income. No Idaho statutory or case law requires Plaintiff to disprove potential sources of income. In fact, no court has interpreted the preponderance standard so strictly against a plaintiff. The Supreme Court of Michigan stated, "In deciding whether there is sufficient evidence to support a ruling of drug forfeiture, courts look to the totality of the circumstances and do not try to pick them off, one by one, by conjuring up some alternative hypothesis of innocence. .." People v. \$180,975 in United States Currency (In re Forfeiture of \$180,975), 478 Mich. 444, 471, 734 N.W.2d 489, 504 (2007).

Here, the district court did just that. No evidence on the record supports that the money in Mr. DeMint's bank account is from a legitimate source; however, the court hypothesized: "I have no idea whether [Mr. DeMint] is a gambler or. . . whether he has a rich uncle that loaded him up with this money. . . I don't know where this money goes. But it could be all sorts of places." Tr. p. 99, LL. 17-21. The court went on, noting that Plaintiff has "to rule out all of these other possibilities of where the money might have gone." Tr. p. 100, LL. 1-3. Again, per Idaho law,

Plaintiff was merely required to show that the money was, more likely than not, used or intended for use in connection with illegal drug activity. A requirement for Plaintiff to disprove all potential legitimate sources of income created a burden far beyond preponderance in favor of one that is, in the district court's words, "almost insurmountable."

The district court erred in requiring Plaintiff to directly trace money into and out of Mr. DeMint's bank account and to disprove all potential legitimate sources of income. Because the court applied the incorrect standard, the matter is subject to remand for application of the correct legal standard.

B. The District Court Erred in Ruling that Defendant Property Nine Thousand Four Hundred Fifteen and 64/100 Dollars (\$9,415.64) United States Currency is Not Subject to Forfeiture.

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