Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-27-2016

Ada County Prosecuting Attorney v. Demint Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44026

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

ARGUMENT

The District Court correctly granted Claimant's motion for directed verdict, now treated as a motion for involuntary dismissal, because the court applied the correct standard of proof to Plaintiff's evidence and because Plaintiff's evidence, even when viewed in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, did not meet the standard of proof.

A. The District Court applied the correct standard of proof of preponderance of the evidence to Plaintiff's evidence.

"Forfeiture proceedings shall be civil actions against the property subject to forfeiture and the standard of proof shall be preponderance of the evidence." Idaho Code § 37-2744(d). The Idaho Court of Appeals examined this standard even more closely in *Idaho Dept. of Law Enforcement By and Through Richardson v. \$34, 000 United States Currency*. In that case, the claimant argued that a reasonable doubt standard should be applied to civil forfeiture cases due to their penal nature. In response, the Court stated:

When applying I.C. § 37-2744, the trial court required that the state show by a preponderance of evidence that the seized money was used in a manner that violated the statute. The court stated:

The forfeiture statute explicitly adopts a preponderance of evidence standard. While this is substantially more rigorous than the 'probable cause' standards applied in federal forfeiture proceedings, 21 U.S. C.A. 881(a)(6), the Court is troubled by the use of a civil standard of proof in proceedings which are clearly penal in nature. Indeed, the state would not have prevailed in this proceeding had it been required to prove its case by 'clear and convincing evidence,' or 'beyond a reasonable doubt.' However, the legislature has spoken on this issue, and the court is not persuaded that it can ignore the statutory directive of I.C. 37-2744.

We, too, cannot ignore the directive of I.C. § 37-2744. Established case law indicates that a majority of states have adopted and upheld an evidentiary standard below reasonable doubt in civil forfeiture proceedings, and that most have adopted a preponderance of evidence standard. See *State v. Spooner*, 520 So.2d 336, 360 (La. 1988). Also, we note that the standard Idaho imposes is more stringent than the finding of probable cause required in forfeiture proceedings under federal law. See 21 U.S. C. § 881(a)(6); 19 U.S. C. § 1615; *United States v. \$250,000 in United States Currency*, 808 F.2d 895, 900 (1st Cir. 1987).

Idaho Dept. of Law Enforcement By and Through Richardson v. \$34,000 United States Currency, 121 Idaho 211, 216, 824 P.2d 142. 147 (Idaho App. 1991). It is therefore well-established in Idaho that the standard of proof in civil forfeiture cases is preponderance of the evidence.

Preponderance of the evidence is defined as:

Greater weight of evidence, or evidence which is more credible and convincing to the mind. *Button v. Metcalf*, 80 Wis. 193, 49 N.W. 809. That which best accords with reason and probability. *U.S. v. McCaskill*, D.C. Fla., 200 F. 332. The word 'preponderance' means something more than 'weight'; it denotes a superiority of weight, or outweighing. The words are not synonymous, but substantially different. There is generally a 'weight' of evidence on each side in case of contested facts. But juries cannot properly act upon the weight of evidence, in favor of the one having the *onus*, unless it overbear, in some degree, the weight upon the other side. *Mathes v. Aggler & Musser Seed Co.*, 178 P.713, 715, 179 Cal. 697; *Barnes v. Phillips*, 184 Ind. 415, 111 N.E. 419.

Black's Law Dictionary. "A preponderance of the evidence means that the evidence shows something to be more probably true than not." *In re Beyer v. State of Idaho, Transportation Dept.*, 155 Idaho 40, 45, 304 P.3d 1206, 1211 (Ct. App. 2013) citing *Oxley v. Medicine Rock Specialties, Inc.*, 139 Idaho 476, 481, 80 P.3d 1077, 1082 (2003).

In this case, the district court applied the correct standard of proof of preponderance of the evidence. First, the district court stated on the record that it understood and was following the correct standard: "So on the status of the proof and the status of the evidence that was presented to me, there is not sufficient evidence to draw any conclusions **to a preponderance of the evidence** or otherwise that the cash in question, that the cash in the bank…was the product of drug or prohibited money." Tr. p. 100, LL. 18-25 and p. 101, LL. 1-3 (emphasis added).

Second, the district court appropriately looked at all the evidence presented by Plaintiff at the trial, and <u>only</u> the evidence presented at trial. As shown above, it rendered its decision on "...the evidence **that was presented to me**..." at trial. The district court was restricted to only the evidence presented at trial and correctly relied on only the evidence presented. Plaintiff's arguments regarding various theories, suppositions, assumptions, or hunches about where Claimant's bank money came from are not evidence. *Idaho Standard Jury Instructions*. This Court, in reviewing the evidence in

this case, is subject to the same restrictions and must decide this case based only on the evidence presented at trial. *Durrant*, 127 Idaho at 559-560.

Third, the evidence presented at trial is subject to the substantial evidence test, which the district court correctly applied. Evidence is substantial if "it is of sufficient quantity and probative value that reasonable minds could conclude that the verdict of the (fact-finder) was proper." *Hibbler*, 109 Idaho at 1009-1010, citing *Mann v. Safeway Stores, Inc.*, 95 Idaho 732, 736, 518 P.2d 1194, 1198 (1974). Here, the court specifically found that not only was there not substantial evidence, there was not sufficient evidence to meet the preponderance burden. Tr. p. 100, LL. 20-21.

Our state's Supreme Court has clearly defined the trial court's duty and responsibility when confronted with a motion for involuntary dismissal, as well as the appellate court's level of deference it will give to the trial court's decision on such a motion:

[W]hen a defendant moves for an involuntary dismissal at the close of the plaintiff's presentation in a non-jury case, the court sits as a trier of fact and is not required to construe all evidence and inferences to be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. *Keenan v. Brooks*, 100 Idaho 823, 825, 606 P.2d 473, 475 (1980). The trial court 'is to weigh the evidence, resolve any conflicts in it, and decide for itself where the preponderance lies.' *Id.* A trial court's findings of fact will not be set aside on appeal unless they are clearly erroneous. *Camp v. East Fork Ditch Co., Ltd.*, 137 Idaho 850, 856, 55 P.3d 304, 310 (2002); I.R.C.P. 52(a). 'When deciding whether findings of fact are clearly erroneous, this Court does not substitute its view of the facts for that of the trial court. It is the province of the trial court to weigh conflicting evidence and to judge the credibility of witnesses.' *Miller v. St. Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr., Inc.*, 139 Idaho 825, 832, 87 P.3d 934, 941 (2004) (citation omitted).

Cummings v. Stephens, 157 Idaho 348, 355, 336 P.3d 281, 288 (2014). Although Claimant in this case erroneously moved for a directed verdict rather than an involuntary dismissal, this Court is to treat it as a motion for involuntary dismissal, as shown above, making Cummings directly on point. Although on appeal this Court must view all of Plaintiff's evidence presented at trial as true and afford Plaintiff every inference favorable to Plaintiff that legitimately may be drawn from such evidence, the district court was not under the same burden. Instead, the district court was only required to weigh the evidence presented, resolve any conflicts in it, and decide for itself where the

preponderance lies. The district court, as evidenced in its summation and ruling at the end of the trial, did exactly that. Having done that, the trial court's findings and judgment "will not be set aside on appeal unless they are clearly erroneous." And while this Court should draw all legitimate inferences from Plaintiff's evidence, this Court cannot substitute its view of the facts for that of the district court in this case. Regarding the facts and the evidence, this Court is to give deference to the district court inasmuch as the district court was present for the presentation of the evidence and therefore in the best position to read body language, listen to tone of voice, and judge the credibility of witnesses.

Plaintiff spends much of its brief discussing statements made by the district court at trial like, "...you build a mountain for yourself that is almost insurmountable...," and "...the mountain road got significantly steeper..." However, in so arguing Plaintiff is making a mountain out of a molehill. Plaintiff wants to put itself in the district court's mind and assume that the district court was applying a reasonable doubt standard. However, at no time did the district court ever say anything about reasonable doubt. If Plaintiff wants to assume what was in the court's mind based on comments made at the close of evidence, one can just as easily assume the district court's comments were an effort to compare Plaintiff's preponderance burden with that of probable cause, a much lower burden, as explained above. Being that this case originated in a penal case where the standard of probable cause is often the correct standard, the district court here could just have easily been demonstrating to Plaintiff that a handful of facts that would suffice for probable cause in that setting is not sufficient to meet the standard of preponderance of the evidence in this civil case.

Further, by making the argument that the district court applied the wrong standard, Plaintiff is simply trying to hide the fact that its evidence amounts to no more than a molehill. For example:

- a. Plaintiff claims in its brief that it presented evidence of the frequency of Claimant's trips to a drug source location. Appellant's Brief, p. 13. A review of the trial transcript yields no such evidence.
- b. Plaintiff argues that Claimant received the bank money from selling meth. Appellant's Brief, p. 13. There is no evidence in the record to support this. There is no evidence that any investigation of the source of the bank money was

- made. Further, at no time did Claimant ever admit that the bank money was the product of drug activity. Rather, he said, in a call that he apparently didn't know was being monitored, "I can prove the income," a fact Detective Roberson conveniently omitted from his sworn affidavit presented to a magistrate for a seizure warrant.
- c. Plaintiff asserts that Claimant's sole source of income was from distributing meth. Appellant's Brief, p. 13. This is a mere assumption, not borne out by any measure of sufficient evidence in the record. Claimant told Roberson on August 20 that he was unemployed. However, Roberson did not ask him how long he'd been unemployed, where he'd been working prior to becoming unemployed, whether he had money saved in the bank, whether he was collecting unemployment, whether he had any other source of income, etc. Even after seizing the money in the bank, Roberson did not investigate the unemployment issue.
- d. Plaintiff argues that the "record shows no legitimate source of income" for Claimant. Appellant's Brief, p. 14. In so arguing, Plaintiff either forgets that Plaintiff alone bears the burden of proof, or seeks to distract this Court from the scarcity of its evidence.
- e. Plaintiff argues that "[d]espite being unemployed, Mr. DeMint made four large deposits in the two months preceding his arrest." Appellant's Brief, p. 14. As shown above, there is no evidence in the record regarding the length of Claimant's unemployment and whether he was unemployed when those deposits were made. In making this argument, Plaintiff misstates, overstates, exaggerates, or misconstrues the evidence to prop up a weak case.
- f. In its argument, Plaintiff points out four large deposits to Claimant's bank account in July and August, 2014, and then states that each of these deposits occurred shortly after a series of out-of-state purchases. Appellant's Brief, p. 14. A review of Exhibit 4 shows this simply is not true. Again, Plaintiff attempts to inflate its limp case by puffing up the evidence.
- g. Plaintiff argues that Claimant took six separate trips to California, Utah and Nevada in July and August, 2014, which is "incongruous with the way most people travel." Appellant's Brief, p. 14. There is no evidence on the travel issue.

"More probably true than not," means exactly that — <u>more</u> than 50%, <u>more</u> than halfway, <u>more</u> than equally true. It means more than <u>possibly</u> true. It means Plaintiff must present, not just possess, a sufficient quantity and/or quality of evidence to get over the hump — not to prove that theirs is the <u>only</u> possibility but to prove that it is the best possibility. In this case, the district court felt that the meager amount of evidence presented by Plaintiff — after a full opportunity to present all the evidence it wished — did not meet this burden, a burden that Plaintiff alone bore.

Plaintiff argues that the district court applied the wrong standard but Plaintiff does not argue that the district court's findings of fact were erroneous. This is because Plaintiff presented so little evidence, much of which was undisputed, and therefore there is no erroneous argument to be made. "A trial court's findings of fact will not be set aside on appeal unless they are clearly erroneous... 'When deciding whether findings of fact are clearly erroneous, this Court does not substitute its view of the facts for that of the trial court." *Cummings*, 157 Idaho at 355.

B. Even after admitting the truth of Plaintiff's evidence and drawing every legitimate inference most favorably to Plaintiff, the evidence fails to meet the standard of proof.

Plaintiff's burden at trial was to prove, to a preponderance of the evidence, that Claimant's money in the bank was "used or intended for use in connection with the illegal manufacture, distribution, dispensing, or possession of property" described in Idaho Code § 37-2744(a)(1), (2), (3), (5), (7), and/or (8). Idaho Code § 37-2744(a)(6). Plaintiff put on no evidence at trial that the bank money was ever used in the manufacture, distribution, or dispensing of controlled substances. Plaintiff introduced evidence only of possession of controlled substances; when law enforcement stopped and searched Claimant on August 20, 2014, they found him in possession of nearly a pound of meth. There was no evidence introduced that Claimant was selling the meth, meeting someone to deliver the meth, or even sharing the meth with others. Indeed, the trafficking statute under which Claimant pled guilty, contains no requirement that sale, delivery, or intent to deliver be proven. *State v. McIntosh*, 368 P.3d 621, 625 (2016). Therefore, the only question is whether the bank money seized by the State was ever used for the purpose of possessing controlled substances.

Out of the two witnesses Plaintiff called at trial, only Detective Roberson said anything relative to the money in the bank. The only testimony he provided about the bank money was:

- a. Claimant had expressed a fear that the bank money would be confiscated;
- b. The beginning balance in the bank account was -\$161.04;
- c. There was a deposit on July 16, 2014 of \$26,288.19;
- d. The account appears to reflect expenses outside of Boise;
- e. There was a purchase from the account at the Ogden IHOP on August 21, 2014.

However, on cross exam Detective Roberson admitted that in the same phone call where the Claimant expressed fear that the bank money would be confiscated he also expressed that he could legitimately account for the money. Roberson also admitted that Claimant never mentioned anything about drugs or illegal activity related to the bank money and that he had chosen to omit these details from his affidavit for the seizure warrant for the money.

Regarding the large deposit on July 16, there was no evidence presented that Roberson had done any kind of investigation to determine the source of that deposit. There was no evidence that he reviewed any bank records, that he interviewed any bank employees, that he interviewed Claimant, or did anything else to determine if the source was licit or illicit. He testified on direct that Claimant told him the day of his arrest he was unemployed but he admitted on cross that he hadn't inquired further, at that time or after the discovery of the bank money, to determine when Claimant became unemployed or whether he was unemployed at the time of the large deposit.

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